REPORT SNO 3592-97

Atmospheric deposition of nitrogen, runoff of organic nitrogen, and critical loads for soils and waters



Naturens Tålegrenser

Programmet Naturens Tålegrenser ble satt igang i 1989 i regi av Miljøverndepartementet. Programmet skal blant annet gi innspill til arbeidet med Nordisk Handlingsplan mot Luftforurensninger og til pågående aktiviteter under Konvensjonen for Langtransporterte Grensoverskridende Luftforurensninger (Genevekonvensjonen). I arbeidet under Genevekonvensjonen er det vedtatt at kritiske belastningsgrenser skal legges til grunn ved utarbeidelse av nye avtaler om utslippsbegrensning av svovel, nitrogen og hydrokarboner.

En styringsgruppe i Miljøverndepartementet har det overordnete ansvar for programmet, mens ansvaret for den faglige oppfølgingen er overlatt en arbeidsgruppe bestående av representanter fra Direktoratet for naturforvaltning (DN), Norsk polarinstitutt (NP) og Statens forurensningstilsyn (SFT).

Arbeidsgruppen har for tiden følgende sammensetning:

Gunnar Futsæter - NP Tor Johannessen - SFT Else Løbersli - DN Steinar Sandøy - DN

Styringsgruppen i Miljøverndepartementet består av representanter fra avdelingen for naturvern og kulturminner, avdelingen for vannmiljø, industri- og avfallssaker og avdelingen for internasjonalt samarbeid, luftmiljø og polarsaker.

Henvendelse vedrørende programmet kan rettes til:

Direktoratet for naturforvaltning Tungasletta 2 7005 Trondheim Tel: 73 58 05 00

eller Statens forurensningstilsyn Postboks 8100 Dep 0032 Oslo 1 Tel: 22 57 34 00

Norwegian Institute for Water Research

REPORT

Main Office

P.O. Box 173, Kjelsås N-0411 Oslo Norway Phone (47) 22 18 51 00 Telefax (47) 22 18 52 00 Televeien 1 N-4890 Grimstad Norway Phone (47) 37 29 50 55 Telefax (47) 37 04 45 13

Regional Office, Sørlandet

Rute 866 N-2312 Ottestad Norway Phone (47) 62 57 64 00 Telefax (47) 62 57 66 53

Regional Office, Østlandet

Vestlandet Thormøhlensgt 55 N-5008 Bergen Norway Phone (47) 55 32 56 40 Telefax (47) 55 32 88 33

Regional Office,

Akvaplan-NIVA A/S

Søndre Tollbugate 3 N-9000 Tromsø Norway Phone (47) 77 68 52 80 Telefax (47) 77 68 05 09

Title	Serial No. 3592-97	Date Jan. 1997	
Atmospheric deposition of nitrogen, runoff of organic nitrogen,	Report No. Sub-No.	Pages Price	
and critical loads for soils and waters	O-96207	23	
Author(s) Wright, Richard F.	Topic group Acid precipitation	Distribution	
Raastad, Inger Aandahl (NISK)	Geographical area	Printed	
Kaste, Øyvind	Norway	NIVA	

Client(s)	Client ref.
Directorate for Nature Protection (DN)	
Ministry of Environment (MD)	

Abstract

Here we test the hypothesis that increased deposition of inorganic N compounds leads to increased leaching and runoff of organic N and thus a higher critical load. We use mainly Norwegian data from input-output fluxes at small catchments, national lake surveys, and large-scale experiments with N deposition to whole catchments. Concentrations of organic-N are not significantly related to N deposition. Much of the variance in organic-N levels are explained by TOC concentrations. For the small catchments, there is a significant relationship between C/N ratio in dissolved organic matter and the N deposition. The sites with high N deposition have low C/N ratio. Chronically high N deposition and long-term accumulation of N in soils and biomass may have led to organic matter more enriched in N relative to pristine sites. Time trend data from manipulated catchments do not show changes in organic-N leaching over 4-10 years. Although organic N levels may have increased as a result of N deposition, the resultant effect on estimate of critical load for nitrogen for freshwaters is minor. For practical purposes organic N outputs can be neglected in estimating and mapping critical loads for nitrogen in Norway.

4 keywords, Norwegian	4 keywords, English
1.tålegrenser2.nitrogen3.vann4.jord	 critical loads nitrogen water soil
(1) (1)	

Richard F. Wright Project manager

ISBN 82-577-3145-5

sseland Bjørn Olav Rosseland

Head of research department

Atmospheric deposition of nitrogen, runoff of organic nitrogen, and critical loads for soils and waters

Richard F. Wright¹, Inger Aandahl Raastad² and Øyvind Kaste³

¹Norwegian Institute for Water Research, Box 173 Kjelsås, 0411 Oslo

²Norwegian Forest Research Institute, Høgskoleveien 12, 1432 Ås

³Norwegian Institute for Water Research, Televeien 1, 4890 Grimstad

Preface

This report is prepared as part of work carried out under the programme "Naturens tålegrenser" under contract L-85/96 NATÅL from DN (Directorate for Protection of Nature) and contract 96-6-712-00 from MD (Ministry of Environment). The project was conducted by NIVA, NISK, and Department of Soil and Water Sciences, NLH. We thank Ann-Kristin Buan for technical assistance.

Oslo, November 1996

Richard F. Wright, project leader

Contents

Summary	5
1. Introduction	6
2. Data sources	7
2.1 National lake surveys	7
2.2 Catchment studies	9
2.2.1 Norwegian monitoring program	9
2.2.2 River Bjerkreim	9
2.3 Large-scale experiments	11
2.3.1 RAIN project, Risdalsheia, Norway	11
2.3.2 NITREX project, Gårdsjön, Sweden	11
3. RESULTS	11
3.1 Geographic patterns	11
3.1.1 National lake survey	11
3.1.2 Small catchments	12
3.2 Time trends	14
3.2.1 Risdalsheia (RAIN project)	14
3.2.2 Gårdsjön (NITREX project)	16
3.3 Soil solution	16
3.4 In-lake processes	18
4. Discussion	18
5. References	22

Summary

Standard methods for calculation of critical loads of nitrogen for soils and surface waters consider only deposition and runoff of inorganic nitrogen compounds. In theory it is possible that increased deposition of inorganic nitrogen compounds (NO_x and NH_x) could lead to increased leaching of organic forms of nitrogen. Increased leaching of organic N thus implies a higher critical load.

Here we test the hypothesis that increased deposition of inorganic N compounds leads to increased leaching and runoff of organic N from terrestrial ecosystems. We use mainly Norwegian data from input-output fluxes at small catchments, national lake surveys, and large-scale experiments with N deposition to whole catchments.

In Norwegian lakes surveyed in 1995 concentrations of organic-N are not significantly related to N deposition. About 80% of the variance in organic-N levels are explained by TOC concentrations.

In runoff from small catchments nitrate fluxes are correlated to N deposition, but there is no relationship between N deposition and organic-N flux in runoff. About 80% of the variance in organic-N levels are explained by TOC concentrations. For the small catchments, there is a significant relationship between C/N ratio in dissolved organic matter and the N deposition. The sites with high N deposition have low C/N ratio. This may indicate that chronically high N deposition and long-term accumulation of N in soils and biomass has led to organic matter more enriched in N relative to pristine sites. Time trend data from manipulated catchments do not show changes in organic-N leaching over 4-10 years.

Increased N-deposition may lead to increased decomposition of organic matter in soil due to increased microbiological activity, which in turn may lead to increased total organic carbon (TOC) and organic-N concentrations in soil solution. The data do not suggest that increased N deposition to forest ecosystems leads to changes in production and transport of organic-N in soil solution.

We conclude that while there is evidence from small catchment studies that organic N levels may have increased as a result of N deposition, the resultant effect on estimate of critical load for nitrogen for freshwaters is minor. For practical purposes organic N outputs can be neglected in estimating and mapping critical loads for nitrogen in Norway.

1. Introduction

Standard methods for calculation of critical loads of nitrogen for soils and surface waters consider only deposition and runoff of inorganic nitrogen compounds (Hornung et al. 1994, Posch et al. 1995). The equations include processes involving inorganic N species such as uptake and mineralisation, but do not consider transformation of inorganic to organic N forms. In theory it is possible that increased deposition of inorganic nitrogen compounds (NO_x and NH_x) could lead to increased leaching of organic forms of nitrogen. Organic nitrogen is commonly defined as the concentration of total dissolved nitrogen less the concentrations of nitrate and ammonium. Organic nitrogen is electrochemically neutral and thus by itself does not contribute to the acidification of soils or waters. If deposition of inorganic N leads to increased leaching of organic N, the system tolerates a higher N loading before leaching of inorganic N exceeds the set criterion; this thus implies a higher critical load.

Here we test the hypothesis that increased deposition of inorganic N compounds leads to increased leaching and runoff of organic N from terrestrial ecosystems. This hypothesis can be tested in two ways:

- (1) by examining empirical relationships between nitrogen deposition and runoff at catchments and lakes located over a geographical area covering a range of N deposition. This is an indirect test in that it relies on the "time-space" analogy, by which present-day geographic patterns are assumed to reflect changes in time at any given site.
- (2) by examining results from whole-ecosystem experiments at which the N deposition is experimentally changed and the effects on runoff are measured. Although this is a direct test, it has the disadvantage that the manipulated ecosystems have only experienced changed N deposition for a small number of years (4-10). These ecosystems probably have not yet fully adjusted to the changed deposition.

We use mainly Norwegian data from input-output fluxes at small catchments, national lake surveys, and large-scale experiments with N deposition to whole catchments (Figure 1). These data include measurements of major ions, Al-species, total organic carbon (TOC), and total dissolved nitrogen (TON). Together they provide a basis for assessing geographical patterns of organic-N leaching across a gradient in N deposition, and changes in organic-N leaching over time under changing N deposition.



Figure 1. Map of Norway and adjacent area of Sweden showing location of experimental sites and monitored catchments. Isolines indicate ambient deposition of inorganic N (g N m^{-2} yr⁻¹) (deposition data from Skjelkvåle 1996).

2. Data sources

2.1 National lake surveys

In autumn 1995 a survey of 1500 Norwegian lakes was conducted to document the current status of acidification and changes in acidification since earlier surveys in 1974 and 1986 (Skjelkvåle *et al.*, in preparation) (Figure 2). About 1000 of the lakes were selected to statistically represent the entire population of Norwegian lakes, while the other 500 were lakes previously sampled in 1986. The latter are mostly small, acid-sensitive lakes unaffected by local pollution sources such as agricultural or municipal effluents, and as such are more suited for our analysis of the role of organic N. We use these 500 lakes. The 1995 survey included measurement of total dissolved N, and for the first time provides data for geographical patterns of organic N in Norwegian freshwaters. We excluded 47 of the 498 lakes from the analysis because they had concentrations of TOC below the detection limit of 0.2 mgC L^{-1} (16 mmol L^{-1}) and/or concentrations of organic-N below 5 µmol L^{-1} .



Figure 2. Map of Norway showing locations of the 500 lakes in the 1995 national survey. These lakes are small and acid-sensitive, and were originally sampled in the 1974-75 and/or 1986 surveys (from Skjelkvåle et al., in preparation).

2.2 Catchment studies

2.2.1 Norwegian monitoring program

Atmospheric deposition and runoff of water and dissolved chemical compounds are measured regularly at 6 small catchments as part of a national program to monitor deposition and effects of long-range transported air pollutants (Skjelkvåle 1996). Four of these catchments have complete data for several years. The catchments Birkenes, Storgama, Langtjern, and Kårvatn span a gradient in ambient N deposition (1994 values) from 120 mmol m⁻² yr⁻¹ (17 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) at Birkenes in the south to 25 mmol m⁻² yr⁻¹ (3.6 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) at Kårvatn on the west coast (Skjelkvåle 1995) (Figure 1). Two of the catchments (Birkenes and Langtjern) are in coniferous forests, while the other 2 (Storgama and Kårvatn) have mostly alpine heath and peatlands. These catchments have been monitored since as early as 1972 (Birkenes), but complete yearly data for all 3 nitrogen species (NH₄, NO₃ and organic-N) are available only beginning in 1994.

2.2.2 River Bjerkreim

During the period 1993-1995 River Bjerkreim, south-western Norway, was intensively studied as a part of the project "Nitrogen from mountains to fjords", which includes studies of atmospheric deposition, N fluxes through agricultural and forest soils, and N fluxes to surface waters (Hessen and Henriksen 1994).

River Bjerkreim is situated in south-west Norway, in an area which is characterised by relative high N concentrations in precipitation (up to 70 mmol L⁻¹) and high precipitation amounts (1.5-3.5 m yr⁻¹). Total N deposition (wet + dry) was 11-27 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in different subcatchments during the project period. The river drains 685 km² and has an average specific runoff of 77 L s⁻¹ km⁻².

N budgets were calculated for 19 subcatchments within the river system (Kaste *et al.*, in preparation), of which 9 are used here for evaluation of the role of organic-N (Figure 3). The subcatchments differ by their dominant land cover characteristics. Catchments affected by agriculture were not included here.

Forested catchments :SVELA, HØGMO, APELAND 1Heathland catchments:LONGA, ØYGARDMountainous catchments:D, E, J, L



Figure 3. Map of the River Bjerkreim basin, south-western Norway, showing locations of small subcatchments and lakes at which input-output budgets were measured (from Kaste *et al.*, In preparation).

Chemical data are available from the outlet streams of all subcatchments. At the sites D, E, J, and L point samples are collected biweekly during the period 1992-1995, except at sites J and L where sampling frequency in 1994 was reduced to monthly, due to low chemical variation (the sites are located downstream large lakes). In five small catchments, which were picked out for more detailed studies (HØGMO, LONGA, ØYGARD, SVELA, APELAND 1), volume proportional samples are collected.

Soil solution data are available from the forest subcatchment Svela (Mulder *et al.;* in preparation). About 60% of the catchment is planted with forest. SVELA is mainly afforested with conifers in the lower areas, primarily Norway spruce. A large stand is dominated by mountain pine and downy birch. A recent clear-cut has been planted with larch. The parent material at SVELA is sandy till, containing large amounts of stones and boulders. Soil water is analysed at 10, 30 and 70 cm depth at two plots: S1 is a middle-aged spruce stand, and S2 is a young larch tree plantation.

In the Bjerkreim catchment input-output data are available from three lakes during the period 1993-1995 (Berge *et al.;* in preparation). Lake Ørsdalsvatn and Lake Hofreistevatn are deep and oligotrophic with little biological activity, whereas Lake Fotlandsvatn is dominated by shallow areas with substantial growth of macrophytes, mainly *Juncus bulbosus* and *Sphagnum* sp. Lake Fotlandsvatn are characterised by a very short residence time (~ one day).

2.3 Large-scale experiments

2.3.1 RAIN project, Risdalsheia, Norway

As part of the RAIN project (Reversing Acidification In Norway) a large-scale whole catchment manipulation experiment was conducted at Risdalsheia, near Grimstad, southernmost Norway (Wright et al. 1993). At the 860-m² KIM catchment ambient precipitation inputs of acid, sulphur and nitrogen compounds were removed by means of a transparent roof above the canopy and clean rain with natural levels of seasalts added beneath the roof by a sprinkling system. Nitrogen deposition was reduced from ambient levels of about 80 mmol m⁻² yr⁻¹ (12 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) to about 18 mmol m⁻² yr⁻¹ (2.5 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). Runoff discharge and concentrations of NH₄ and NO₃ have been measured since 1983, and total N since June 1991. The experiment started in 1984 and continued uninterrupted through May 1994 when it was succeeded by the CLIMEX project (Climate change experiment) (Jenkins *et al.* 1993).

2.3.2 NITREX project, Gårdsjön, Sweden

The NITREX project (Nitrogen saturation experiments) entails large-scale experiments with manipulation of nitrogen deposition (Wright and van Breemen 1995). One of these experiments is underway at Gårdsjön near Gothenburg on the Swedish west coast (Moldan and Wright, in press). Here nitrogen deposition has been experimentally increased by weekly additions of NH_4NO_3 to a 0.56 ha catchment with mature spruce forest. The experiment increased nitrogen deposition from ambient 75 mmol/m2/yr (11 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) to 350 mmol m⁻² yr⁻¹ (49 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). Runoff discharge and concentrations of NH_4 , NO_3 , and total N have been measured since April 1989. Additions began April 1991.

At Gårdsjön studies of soil and soil solution are part of the investigations (Raastad and Mulder, in press; Stuanes and Kjønaas, in press), and data from these studies include concentrations of N species in soil solution before and following the N additions.

3. RESULTS

3.1 Geographic patterns

3.1.1 National lake survey

The lake survey data show the familiar relationship of elevated concentrations of NO_3 in areas receiving N deposition greater than about 50 mmol m-2 yr-1 (Figure 4). At high (for Norway) levels of N deposition, some lakes have elevated NO_3 concentrations while others have very low concentrations. N deposition appears to be a necessary but not a sufficient factor in accounting for elevated NO_3 concentrations in Norwegian lakes. Only about 46% of the variance is explained by N deposition, and clearly there are other factors which govern the NO_3 concentrations in lakes.

Concentrations of organic-N, on the other hand, are not significantly related to N deposition (Figure 4). Organic-N levels are clearly related to TOC concentrations; TOC explains about 80% of the variance. The C/N ratio of dissolved organic matter in Norwegian lakes is not related to N deposition; the average C/N ratio is about 31.



Figure 4. Relationships between NO₃, organic-N, and C/N ratio in dissolved organic matter and TOC and N-deposition in 451 Norwegian lakes sampled in autumn 1995 (data from Skjelkvåle *et al.*, in preparation). Statistically significant linear regressions are shown.

3.1.2 Small catchments

At the 4 small catchments in the Norwegian monitoring programme runoff of inorganic nitrogen compounds (mostly NO₃) is moderate at Birkenes and Storgama, but very low at Langtjern and Kårvatn (Table 1). Runoff of organic N (and TOC) is moderate at Birkenes, Storgama and Langtjern, and very low at Kårvatn (Skjelkvåle 1995).

Surface water in the Bjerkreim River catchment generally has low TOC concentrations (Table 1). In some catchments NO_3^- contributes up to 40% of the surface water acidification (Henriksen *et al.* in prep.). Yearly average NO_3^- concentrations were closely related to land use and land cover characteristics of the catchments: The lowest NO_3^- concentrations (6-11 µeq L⁻¹) and fluxes were recorded in outlet streams of the forested catchments HØGMO, APELAND-1, and SVELA. In mountainous areas (D, E, J, L) NO_3^- levels were a bit higher (15-17 µeq L⁻¹), while the heathland sites (ØYGARD, LONGA) were intermediate.

Organic N concentrations were remarkably uniform $(5-12 \ \mu mol \ L^{-1})$ compared to NO₃⁻ (6-45 μ eq L⁻¹) in the subcatchments. As NO₃⁻ varied by a factor of 7 among the catchments, the corresponding organic N ratio was only 2. Further, there was no distinct coupling between organic N concentrations and land use or land cover characteristics, as were recorded for NO₃⁻. On the other hand, there seemed to be a rather tight coupling between organic N and total organic C concentrations in streamwater (Fig. 4). Average molar organic C/N-ratios were rather uniform in forests, heathlands, mountainous areas (11-20).

Table 1. Volume-weighted fluxes of inorganic nitrogen inputs and nitrogen and carbon fluxes in runoff at small catchments in Norway and Gårdsjön in Sweden. Units: mmol m⁻² yr⁻¹. Data sources: Risdalsheia (Wright and Lükewille, in press); Gårdsjön (Moldan and Wright, in press); monitored catchments (Skjelkvåle 1995); Bjerkreim (Kaste et al., in preparation).

	period	site	deposition			runoff					
			NH_4	NO_3	sum	NH_4	NO_3	$NH_4 +$	org-N	TOC	C/N g/g
								NO_3			
Risdalsheia	93-94	EGIL	3.	5 41	. 76		6 2	3 34	15	435	25
	93-94	ROLF	5	1 59	0 110	1	6 2	9 45	5 25	1020	35
	93-94	CEC	50) 58	3 108		7 2	3 35	5 24	690	25
	93-94	MET	50) 58	3 108	1	0 2	9 39) 22	860	34
Gårdsjön	89-91	G2	27	7 53	8 80		0) () 11	543	46
	89-95	F1	27	7 52	2 79		1	1 1	. 9	477	49
monitored	1994	Birkenes	63	3 58	8 121		1 1) 11	. 8	640	69
catchments	1994	Storgama	29	9 39	68		1 14	4 15	59	415	38
	1994	Langtjern	23	3 20) 43		1 2	2 3	8 8	510	55
	1994	Kårvatn	12	2 13	25		0	2 2	2 1	140	92
Bjerkreim	1993-95	HØGMO			144		1 1) 11	. 11	228	20
	1993-95	LONGA			110		1 2.	3 24	16	225	14
	1993-95	ØYGARD			121		1 1:	5 16	5 12	132	. 11
	1993-95	SVELA			121		1 1:	5 16	5 8	154	- 18
	1993-95	APELAND 1			111		1 1) 11	. 9	180	20
	1993-95	D			127		1 4) 41	. 13	173	13
	1993-95	E			141		1 3	9 40) 18	311	18
	1993-95	J			162		1 4	4 45	5 16	223	14
	1993-95	L			131		1 34	4 35	5 12	131	11
	1993-95	Main outlet			133		1 5'	7 58	8 14	159	12
Manipulated	d catchmei	nts	I			I					
Risdalsheia	93-94	KIM	4	5 9) 14		1	1 2	2 20	860	37
Gårdsjön	92-95	G2	173	3 192	365		2 1	1 13	8 12	629	47

Monitored, control and reference catchments

Runoff from the untreated reference catchments at Risdalsheia (RAIN project) has high concentrations of TOC and organic-N as well as high levels of NO_3 . Also NH_4 concentrations are high relative to the other catchments included here (Table 1). The data clearly indicate that the site is saturated.

At the untreated control catchment F1 at Gårdsjön (NITREX) runoff has moderate concentrations of TOC and organic N and very low levels of inorganic N species, despite the relatively high ambient N deposition (Table 1).

Together the data for 20 of these small catchments show many of the same patterns as the lake data (Figure 5). Data from Kårvatn were omitted in the analysis because of the very low TOC and organic-N concentrations at Kårvatn. Nitrate fluxes in runoff are again correlated to N deposition, but there is no relationship between N deposition and organic-N flux in runoff. Organic-N flux is related to TOC flux, but only 30% of the variation in organic-N flux is explained by TOC flux. For the small catchments, there is a significant relationship between C/N ratio in dissolved organic matter and the N

deposition. The sites with high N deposition have low C/N ratio. This may indicate that chronically high N deposition and long-term accumulation of N in soils and biomass has led to organic matter more enriched in N relative to pristine sites.



Figure 5. Relationships between fluxes in runoff of NO_3 and organic-N and C/N ratio in dissolved organic matter vs. TOC flux and N-deposition in 20 small catchments (see Table 1 for data sources). Statistically-significant linear regressions are shown.

3.2 Time trends

3.2.1 Risdalsheia (RAIN project)

At Risdalsheia the experimentally-reduced N deposition resulted in immediate and large decreases in concentrations and fluxes of inorganic N species in runoff (Figure 6). The 10-year record from KIM catchment (roof, clean rain) shows permanent decreases in both NH_4 and NO_3 from the first year of treatment, while levels remained high at both EGIL catchment (roof, acid rain) and ROLF (no roof, acid rain).



Figure 6. Time trends of volume-weighted mean concentrations of inorganic N ($NH_4 + NO_3$) in runoff at the 3 RAIN project catchments at Risdalsheia over the 10-year period 1984-1994.

Data for organic-N at these catchments and at 2 additional untreated reference catchments (CEC and MET) indicate no major difference among the catchments related to N deposition (Figure 7). Measurements of total N (and thus organic N) began only in June 1991 when the experiment was already in its seventh year of treatment, and thus there are no direct data from Risdalsheia to show the effect of reduced N deposition on organic N in runoff. Nevertheless the fact that the organic N outputs at these 5 catchments are quite similar and show no relation to N deposition, strongly indicates that organic N outputs at KIM catchment have not changed as a result of treatment.



Figure 7. Fluxes of inorganic-N and organic-N in runoff vs. N-deposition at 5 catchments at Risdalsheia for the year June 1993-June 1994, the last year of measurements prior to the onset of CLIMEX treatments.

Concentrations of organic N in runoff, on the other hand, are highly correlated to concentrations of total organic carbon (TOC). The C/N ratio (g g^{-1}) of dissolved organic matter in runoff at Risdalsheia ranges from 25-45, apparently unrelated to N deposition (Table 1).

3.2.2 Gårdsjön (NITREX project)

At Gårdsjön the experimentally-increased nitrogen deposition at catchment G2 NITREX resulted in increased runoff of inorganic N compounds, but no change in runoff of organic-N (Figure 8). Flux of organic-N from catchment G2 NITREX is about 10 mmol $m^{-2} yr^{-1}$, somewhat higher than the flux at the untreated catchment F1 CONTROL. This difference can be explained by the similar differences in fluxes of TOC; the average over 6 years at G2 is 640 mmol $m^{-2} yr^{-1}$ and at F1 is 510 mmol $m^{-2} yr^{-1}$. The average C/N ratio (g g⁻¹) of dissolved organic matter in runoff is about 47 at both catchments.



Figure 8. Time trends of deposition and runoff of nitrogen compounds at G2 NITREX catchment and F1 CONTROL catchment at Gårdsjön, Sweden, over the 6-year period 1989-1995 (data from Moldan and Wright, in press).

3.3 Soil solution

In a comparison of soil water and stream water chemistry in the forested catchment SVELA, streamwater concentrations of total N and organic N were lower than those in soil water from 10, 30, or 70 cm depths (Figure 9). Higher inorganic N /organic N - ratios in streamwater suggests that mineralisation of organic N in ground water or in the stream could have taken place. On the other hand, due to the great spatial variability in soil water chemistry and uncertainties attributed to water pathways, it is difficult to make direct comparisons to stream water chemistry at the catchment scale.



Figure 9. Middle N concentrations in soil water and stream water at SVELA 1994-1995. Soil water data from Mulder *et al.* (In prep.).

Similarly data from soil solution at the Gårdsjön catchments do not indicate changes in mobilisation of organic N as a result of the nitrogen additions of the NITREX experiment (Raastad and Mulder, in press). Concentrations of nitrate increased in soil solution, especially in the surface layers, but there was no apparent change in organic N concentrations (Figure 10) (Stuanes and Kjønaas, in press). Again there is a close correlation between TOC and TON both from plot-to-plot within each catchment, and over time during the growing season (Raastad and Mulder, in press).



Figure 10. Volume-weighted average concentrations of nitrogen compounds in 1994 in soil solution at catchment G2 NITREX and F1 CONTROL at Gårdsjön, Sweden. Concentrations of DON were calculated as the difference between total dissolved N and dissolved inorganic N (NH_4^+ -N and NO_3^- -N). If measured NH_4^+ and NO_3^- were below the detection limit, concentrations are set to 50 % of the detection limit (data from Stuanes and Kjønaas, in press).

A study of dissolved organic matter (DOM) in Gårdsjön showed that there were large variations in the median C/N ratios in soil solution at different plots and at different depths (Raastad and Mulder, (in press) (Table 2), but no changes in the C/N ratio was found in soil solution due to manipulation (N addition and reversal of acidification). This was mainly because of large spatial variation within catchments.

	NITREX	Roof	Control
Depth [cm]	(G2Ly2)	(G1 IVL Ly1)	(F1Ly1)
5	28	18	35
10	18	20	31
20	53	28	38
40	43	35	34

Table 2. Median C/N weight-ratios in DOM in soil solution (podzol) at Gårdsjön (from Raastad and Mulder, (in press).

3.4 In-lake processes

Input-output fluxes from the lakes in the Bjerkreim River catchment indicate a net retention of N in Lake Ørsdalsvatn and Lake Fotlandsvatn (Table 3) (Berge *et al.*; in preparation). Expressed per surface unit, Lake Fotlandsvatn had the highest N retention, about 50 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. The seeming lack of retention in Lake Hofreistevatn is probably due to an underestimation of N inputs from the local catchment. In the two most oligotrophic lakes, Lake Ørsdalsvatn and Lake Hofreistevatn, a transformation of incoming organic N to NO_3^- seems to occur. In Lake Fotlandsvatn, on the other hand, relatively more NO_3^- was held back, while there seemed to be a net export of organic N.

Table 3. Nitrogen retention in lakes, calculated from chemical input-output data 1993-1995.Negative values indicate N-retention.

		Tot-N	NO ₃ -N tonnes yr ⁻¹	Org-N	Tot-N kg ha⁻	NO ₃ -N ¹ yr ⁻¹ lake su	Org-N urface
Ørsdalsvatn	93/95	-11.2	5.1	-16.3	-9.1	4.2	-13.2
Hofreistevatn	93/95	2.2	5.4	-3.3	7.7	19.4	-11.7
Fotlandsvatn	93/95	-4.5	-6.5	2.0	-50.1	-71.9	21.8

4. Discussion

Interpretation of the relationships between inorganic nitrogen, organic nitrogen and total organic carbon in leachate and runoff necessitates consideration of the nitrogen and carbon cycles in terrestrial ecosystems (Figure 11). Most of the inorganic N is deposited on vegetation and soils. Typically only a small fraction of incoming precipitation falls directly on stream and lake surfaces. A fraction of the inorganic nitrogen (mostly nitrate) in surface waters may be "hydrologic nitrate", a term used to denote nitrate that is leached when the contact time between precipitation and soil is too short to allow full opportunity for removal of nitrogen compounds by inorganic or organic processes.



Figure 11. Schematic view of the nitrogen and carbon cycles in terrestrial ecosystems.

Nitrogen deposition enters the nitrogen cycle either by processes such as microbial immobilisation and ion exchange in soil and uptake by vegetation. Most terrestrial catchments in areas of Norway not receiving significant nitrogen deposition are nitrogen limited, and typically over 90% of the incoming inorganic nitrogen is retained in the catchment. These ecosystems have very tight nitrogen cycles. The little nitrogen lost is generally lost in the form of organic N.

The nitrogen in dissolved organic matter derives from incomplete decomposition of litter and soil organic matter. The link between increased deposition of inorganic N and a possible increase in runoff of organic N thus goes through the entire N cycle. But because the organic N is a component of the dissolved organic matter, the key to understanding organic-N lies in understanding factors controlling TOC in runoff. Catchments may export more organic-N either by exporting more dissolved organic matter, or by exporting organic matter more enriched in nitrogen (i.e. lower C/N ratio).

Increased nitrogen deposition leads to increased storage of N in vegetation and soils. In forests chronic deposition of nitrogen may cause increased growth. But also the C/N ratio in both vegetation and soils increases, as has been shown by both fertilisation experiments (Tamm 1992) and the whole-ecosystem manipulations of the NITREX project (Boxmann et al., in press).

The influence of nitrogen deposition on the C/N ratios of biomass and soil organic matter depends on the amount of deposition, the length of time, and the capacity of the system to retain nitrogen. The capacity is governed by such factors as soil depth, amount of biomass, and percent carbon in the soil. But not all soil organic matter actively participates in the N cycle; in soils of cold, temperate regions probably a major fraction of the soil organic matter is essentially "inert", in that it has accumulated over the thousands of years since deglaciation and the easily-decomposable fractions have been lost long ago.

Catchment data indicate that the forested sites have higher C/N ratios in dissolved organic matter, and also lower NO_3 concentrations in runoff (Table 1). This suggests that forests store more N in active biomass and soil organic matter relative to heathlands. This is certainly the case at Bjerkreim -- dissolved organic matter in runoff from forested catchments have C/N 18-20, whereas the non-forested catchments (with 1 exception) have C/N 11-14.

Quantitative estimates of the amount of active biomass and soil organic matter can be derived from applications of nitrogen-process models to manipulated catchments. One such model, MERLIN (Model of Ecosystem Retention and Loss of Inorganic Nitrogen; Cosby et al., in press), has been applied to both Risdalsheia (Beier and Wright, in preparation) and Gårdsjön G2 NITREX (Kjønaas et al. in preparation). A rough estimate indicates that at Risdalsheia about 30 years and Gårdsjön 60 years of present-day N deposition would be necessary to change the C/N ratios of active vegetation and soil organic matter by 10 (Table 4). This length of time is of the same order of magnitude to the actual number of years of historical N deposition at present-day levels.

Table 4. Carbon and nitrogen pools and fluxes for untreated catchments at Risdalsheia and Gårdsjön. SOM: soil organic matter. Also shown are estimates for number of years of present-day deposition required to change the C/N ratios of the active pools assuming all incoming N is retained and there is no change in carbon pools. In the case of Risdalsheia the calculation is made from the past to the present, while at Gårdsjön the calculation is for the future. (Data from Beier et al., in preparation; Kjønaas et al., in preparation).

	Risdalsheia			Gårdsjön			
	С	Ν	C/N	С	Ν	C/N	
pools mol m ⁻²							
active vegetation	44	1.05	42	99	1.58	62	
woody vegetation	192	1.64	117	546	1.63	335	
active SOM	149	7	21	397	11.3	35	
passive SOM	594	28	21	1226	38	32	
fluxes mmol m ⁻² yr ⁻¹							
deposition		83			84		
runoff							
inorg N		51			0		
org N		20			11		
TOC		810			350		
C/N		40			32		
to change from	C/N	∜N	1	C/N	𝑘ℕ		
0		mol m ⁻²			mol m ⁻²		
active vegetation	52 to 42	0.2		62 to 52	0.3		
active SOM	31 to 21	2.2		35 to 25	4.6		
sum		2.4			4.9		
years of deposition		30			60		

If the long-term accumulation of N deposition results in a change in the C/N ratio by about 10 of dissolved organic matter in runoff, the flux of N out of the system would increase by 7 mmol $m^{-2} yr^{-1}$ at Risdalsheia and 5 mmol $m^{-2} yr^{-1}$ at Gårdsjön. These increases are small relative to present-day N

deposition of about 80 mmol $m^{-2} yr^{-1}$ at both sites. Thus there would be little change in estimate of critical load for nitrogen at these sites if organic N were taken into consideration.

Runoff at both Risdalsheia and Gårdsjön contains relatively high concentrations of TOC (and organic N). Thus the potential change in critical load due to consideration of organic N would be even smaller for the majority of Norwegian freshwaters.

After entering surface waters N-compounds can undergo transformations along river stretches and in lakes. In the two deep oligotrophic lakes in the Bjerkreim river basin a transformation of incoming organic N to NO_3^- seems to occur (Berge *et al.*, in prep.). This may be ascribed to loss by sedimentation, light degradation and mineralisation by bacteria. In the shallow lake, however, relatively more NO_3^- was retained, while there seemed to be a net export of organic N. In this case biological uptake of inorganic N by macrophytes, planktonic algae, and bacteria may be responsible. The elevated organic N concentrations in the lake outlet can be due to very short residence time with extensive drift of pelagic organisms and plant fragments. Expressed per surface unit this lake also had the highest N retention of the 3 lakes. This was probably due to higher biological N uptake and immobilisation relative to the 2 highly oligotrophic lakes.

The lake survey data do not indicate that the C/N ratio in lakewater is related to the N deposition. Lake data, however, do not give a direct picture of catchment runoff, as in-lake processes act on the dissolved organic matter and thus change the C/N ratio, as well as the TOC concentration. Nevertheless, with respect to critical loads for surface waters, the lake data would thus indicate that organic-N can be neglected in determining critical loads.

Dissolved organic matter (DOM) is produced during decomposition of organic matter in forest soil. Much of the DOM leached from the forest floor originates from initially soluble substances in litterfall and throughfall, but the structure of these components are changed during humification in the forest floor (Qualls *et al.*1991). Production, decomposition and transport of DOM is influenced by factors such as type of vegetation, hydrology, temperature and soil moisture content. In addition management and atmospheric deposition of acidity and of nitrogen compounds may affect concentrations and dynamics of DOM. Increased N-deposition may lead to increased decomposition of organic matter in soil due to increased microbiological activity, which in turn may lead to increased DOC and DON concentrations in soil solution.

Studies of DON and possible effects of N addition in forest soil solution is complicated by large spatial variations both within and between catchments, in addition to differences as soil type, vegetation and hydrology which further complicates the interpretation of data. The data do not suggest that increased N deposition to forest ecosystems leads to changes in production and transport of DON in soil solution. At the NITREX experiment at Gårdsjön increased N deposition causes significant changes and increased leaching of NO₃⁻, but no effect on organic-N (Stuanes and Kjønaas, in press.). Other factors such as temperature may be more important to the decomposition of Soil organic matter and thereby concentrations of DOC and DON than N addition and acidification.

We conclude that while there is evidence from small catchment studies that organic N levels may have increased as a result of N deposition, the resultant effect on estimate of critical load for nitrogen for freshwaters is minor. For practical purposes organic N outputs can be neglected in estimating and mapping critical loads for nitrogen in Norway.

5. References

- Beier, C., and Wright, R.F. In preparation. MERLIN model applied to CLIMEX. Climate change Research Report xx/97, Norwegian Institute for Water Research, Oslo.
- Berge, D., Fjeld, E., Hindar, A., and Kaste, Ø. In preparation. Nitrogen transformation in water. Ambio.
- Boxman, A.W., Blanck, K., Brandrud, T.E., Emmett, B.A., Gundersen, P., Hogervorst, R., Kjønaas, O.J., Persson, H.A. and Stuanes, A.O., In press. Cross-site comparison of vegetation response as a result of nitrogen input manipulations in coniferous forest ecosystems. For. Ecol. Manage.
- Cosby, B.J., Ferrier, R.C., Jenkins, A., Emmett, B.A., Tietema, A. and Wright, R.F. In review. Modelling the ecosystem effects of nitrogen deposition at the catchment scale: Model of Ecosystem Retention and Loss of Inorganic Nitrogen (MERLIN). Biogeochemistry.

Henriksen, A., Hindar, A., and Kaste, Ø. In prep. Nitrogen contribution to acidity.

- Hessen, D.O., and Henriksen, A. 1994. Nitrogen from mountains to fjords outline of the programme. p. 1-2, In: Newsletter no. 1/1994, Nitrogen from mountains to fjords, Norwegian Institute for Water Research, Oslo.
- Hornung, M., Sutton, M.A., and Wilson, R.B. (eds.) 1994. Mapping and modelling of critical loads for nitrogen -- a workshop report. Institute for Terrestrial Ecology, Edinburgh, UK, 207pp.
- Jenkins, A., Wright, R.F., Berendse, F., van Breemen, N., Brussaard, L., Schulze, E.D. and Woodward, F.I. 1993. The CLIMEX project - climate change experiment. p. 71-77, In: Rasmussen, L., Brydges, T. and Mathy, P. (eds) <u>Experimental Manipulations of Biota and Biogeochemical Cycling in Ecosystems</u>. Ecosystems Research Report 4, Commission of the European Communities, Brussels, 348 pp.
- Kaste, Ø., Hindar, A., and Henriksen, A. In prep. Retention of atmospheric-derived nitrogen in subcatchments of the River Bjerkreim in south-western Norway. Ambio.
- Kjønaas, O.J., Wright, R.F., and Cosby, B.J. In preparation. MERLIN model applied to NITREX Gårdsjön. Report No. xxxxx, Norwegian Institute for Water Research, Oslo.
- Moldan, F., and Wright, R.F. In press. Changes in runoff chemistry after five years of N addition to a forested catchment at Gårdsjön, Sweden. Forest Ecol. Manag.
- Mulder, J., Nilsen, P., and Stuanes, A.O. In preparation. Nitrogen transformation in forests. Ambio.
- Posch, M., de Smet, P. A. M., Hettelingh, J.P., and Downing, R.J. (eds.) 1995. Calculating and Mapping of Critical Thresholds in Europe: Status Report 1995. RIVM Report No. 259101004, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, the Netherlands, 198pp.
- Qualls, R.G., Haines, B.L., and Swank, W.T. 1991. Fluxes of dissolved organic nutrients and humic substances in a deciduous forest. Ecology 72: 254-266.

- Raastad, I. A., and Mulder, J. In press. Dissolved organic matter (DOM) in acid forest soils at Gårdsjön (Sweden): effects of increased input of nitrogen and reversal of air pollution. Water Air Soil Pollut.
- Skjelkvåle, B.L. (ed.) 1995. Monitoring of long-rang transported polluted air and precipitation. Annual report on Effects 1994. Report 628/95, Norwegian State Pollution Control Authority, Oslo, 282pp. (in Norwegian).
- Skjelkvåle, B.L. (ed.) 1996. Monitoring of long-rang transported polluted air and precipitation. Annual report on Effects 1995. Report 671/96, Norwegian State Pollution Control Authority, Oslo, 193pp. (in Norwegian).
- Skjelkvåle, B.L. et al. In preparation. The 1995 survey of Norwegian lakes.
- Stuanes, A.O., and Kjønaas, O.J. In press. Soil solution chemistry during four years of NH₄NO₃ addition to a forested catchment at Gårdsjön, Sweden. Forest Ecol. Manag.
- Tamm, C.O. 1992. Nitrogen in Terrestrial Ecosystems. Ecological Studies 81, Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Wright, R.F., Lotse, E., and Semb, A. 1993. RAIN project: results after 8 years of experimentally reduced deposition to a whole catchment. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 50: 258-268.
- Wright, R.F., and van Breemen, N., 1995. The NITREX project: an introduction. Forest Ecol. Manage., 71: 1-6.
- Wright, R.F., and Lükewille, A. In press. CLIMEX project: Response of runoff chemistry after 2 years of elevated CO₂ and temperature. Climate Change Research Report 7/96, Norwegian Institute for Water Research, Oslo.

Naturens Tålegrenser - Oversikt over utgitte rapporter

- 1 Nygaard, P. H., 1989. Forurensningers effekt på naturlig vegetasjon en litteraturstudie. Norsk institutt for skogforskning (NISK), Ås.
- Uten nr. Jaworovski, Z., 1989. Pollution of the Norwegian Arctic: A review. Norsk polarinstitutt (NP), rapportserie nr. 55. Oslo.
- 2 Henriksen, A., Lien, L. & Traaen, T.S. 1990. Tålegrenser for overflatevann. Kjemiske kriterier for tilførsler av sterke syrer. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-89210.
- 3 Lien, L., Henriksen, A., Raddum, G. & Fjellheim, A. 1989. Tålegrenser for overflatevann. Fisk og evertebrater. Foreløpige vurderinger og videre planer. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-89185.
- 4 Bølviken, B. & medarbeidere, 1990. Jordforsuringsstatus og forsuringsfølsomhet i naturlig jord i Norge. Norges geologiske undersøkelse (NGU), NGU-rapport 90.156. 2 bind (Bind I: Tekst, Bind II:Vedlegg og bilag).
- 5 Pedersen, H. C. & Nybø, S. 1990. Effekter av langtransporterte forurensninger på terrestriske dyr i Norge. En statusrapport med vekt på SO₂, NOx og tungmetaller. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Utredning 005.
- 6 Frisvoll, A. A., 1990. Moseskader i skog i Sør-Norge. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Oppdragsmelding 018.
- 7 Muniz, I. P. & Aagaard, K. 1990. Effekter av langtransportert forurensning på ferskvannsdyr i Norge virkninger av en del sporelementer og aluminium. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Utredning 013.
- 8 Hesthagen, T., Berger, H. M. & Kvenild, L. 1992. Fiskestatus i relasjon til forsuring av innsjøer. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Forskningsrapport 032.
- 9 Pedersen, U., Walker, S.E. & Kibsgaard, A. 1990. Kart over atmosfærisk avsetning av svovel- og nitrogenforbindelser i Norge. Norsk institutt for luftforskning (NILU), OR 28/90.
- 10 Pedersen, U. 1990. Ozonkonsentrasjoner i Norge. Norsk institutt for luftforskning (NILU), OR 28/90.
- 11 Wright, R. F., Stuanes, A. Reuss, J.O. & Flaten, M.B. 1990. Critical loads for soils in Norway. Preliminary assessment based on data from 9 calibrated catchments. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-89153.
- 11b Reuss, J. O., 1990. Critical loads for soils in Norway. Analysis of soils data from eight Norwegian catchments. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-89153.
- 12 Amundsen, C. E., 1990. Bufferprosent som parameter for kartlegging av forsuringsfølsomhet i naturlig jord. Universitetet i Trondheim, AVH (stensil).
- 13 Flatberg, K.I, Foss, B., Løken, A. & Saastad, S.M. 1990. Moseskader i barskog. Direktoratet for naturforvaltning (DN), notat.
- 14 Frisvoll, A.A., & Flatberg, K.I., 1990. Moseskader i Sør-Varanger. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Oppdragsmelding 55.
- 15 Flatberg, K.I., Bakken, S., Frisvoll, A.A., & Odasz, A.M. 1990. Moser og luftforurensninger. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Oppdragsmelding 69.
- 16 Mortensen, L.M. 1991. Ozonforurensning og effekter på vegetasjonen i Norge. Norsk landbruksforsk. 5:235-264.
- 17 Wright, R.F., Stuanes, A.O. & Frogner, T. 1991. Critical Loads for Soils in Norway Nordmoen. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-89153.
- 18 Pedersen, H.C., Nygård, T., Myklebust, I. og Sæther, M. 1991. Metallbelastninger i lirype. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Oppdragsmelding 71.
- 19 Lien, L., Raddum, G.G. & Fjellheim, A. 1991. Tålegrenser for overflatevann evertebrater og fisk. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), Rapport 0-89185,2.
- 20 Amundsen, C.E. 1992. Sammenlingning av parametre for å bestemme forsuringsfølsomhet i jord. NGU-rapport 91.265.

- 21 Bølviken, B., R. Nilsen, J. Romundstad & O. Wolden. 1992. Surhet, forsuringsfølsomhet og lettløselige basekationer i naturlig jord fra Nord-Trøndelag og sammenligning med tilsvarende data fra Sør Norge. NGUrapport 91.250.
- 22 Sivertsen, T. & medarbeidere. 1992. Opptak av tungmetaller i dyr i Sør-Varanger. Direktoratet for naturforvaltning, DN-notat 1991-15.
- 23 Lien, L., Raddum, G.G. & A. Fjellheim. 1992. Critical loads of acidity to freshwater. Fish and invertebrates. Norwegian Institute for Water Research (NIVA), Rapport O-89185,3.
- 24 Fremstad, E. 1992. Virkninger av nitrogen på heivegetasjon. En litteraturstudie. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Oppdragsmelding 124.
- 25 Fremstad, E. 1992. Heivegetasjon i Norge, utbredelseskart. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Oppdragsmelding 188.
- 26 Flatberg, K.I. & Frisvoll, A. 1992. Undersøkelser av skader hos to sigdmoser i Agder. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Oppdragsmelding 134.
- 27 Lindstrøm, E.A.1992. Tålegrenser for overflatevann. Fastsittende alger. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-90137/E-90440, rapport-2.
- 28 Brettum, P. 1992. Tålegrenser for overflatevann. Planteplankton. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-90137/E-90440, rapport-3.
- 29 Brandrud, T.E., Mjelde, M. 1992. Tålegrenser for overflatevann. Makrovegetasjon. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-90137/E-90440, rapport-1.
- 30 Mortensen, L.M. & Nilsen, J. 1992. Effects of ozone and temperature on growth of several wild plant species. Norwegian Journal of Agricultural Sciences 6: 195-204.
- 31 Pedersen, H.C., Myklebust, I., Nygård, T. & Sæther, M. 1992. Akkumulering og effekter av kadmium i lirype. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Oppdragsmelding 152.
- 32 Amundsen, C.E. 1992. Sammenligning av relativ forsuringsfølsomhet med tålegrenser beregnet med modeller, i jord. Norges geologiske undersøkelse. NGU-rapport 92.294.
- 33 Frogner, T., Wright, R.F., Cosby, B.J., Esser, J.M., Håøya, A.-O. & Rudi, G. 1992. Map of critical loads for coniferous forest soils in Norway. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-91147.
- Henriksen, A., Lien, L., Traaen, T.S. & Taubøll, S. 1992. Tålegrenser for overflatevann Kartlegging av tålegrenser og overskridelser av tålegrenser for tilførsler av sterke syrer. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-89210.
- 35 Lien, L. Henriksen, A. & Traaen, T.S. 1993. Tålegrenser for sterke syrer på overflatevann -Svalbard. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-90102.
- 36 Henriksen, A., Hesthagen, T., Berger, H.M., Kvenild, L., Taubøll, S. 1993. Tålegrenser for overflatevann -Sammenheng mellom kjemisk kriterier og fiskestatus. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-92122.
- 37 Odasz, A.M., Øiesvold, S., & Vange, V. 1993. Nitrate nutrition in *Racomitrium lanuginosum* (Hedw.)Brd., a bioindicator of nitrogen deposition in Norway. Direktoratet for naturforvaltning. Utredning for DN 1993-2.
- 38 Espelien, I.S. 1993. Genetiske effekter av tungmetaller på pattedyr. En kunnskapsoversikt. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Utredning 051.
- 39 Økland, J. & Økland, K.A. 1993. Database for bioindikatorer i ferskvann et forprosjekt . Laboratorium for ferskvannsøkologi og innlandsfiske (LFI), Zoologisk Museum, Oslo, Rapport 144, 1993.
- 40 Aamlid, D. & Skogheim, I. 1993. Nikkel, kopper og andre metaller i multer og blåbær fra Sør-Varanger, 1992. Rapport Gkogforsk 14/93. 14/93.
- 41 Kålås, J.A., Ringsby, T.H. & Lierhagen, S. 1993. Metals and radiocesium in wild animals from the Sør-Varanger area, north Norway. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Oppdragsmelding 212.

- 42 Fløisand, I. & Løbersli, E. (red.)1993. Tilførsler og virkninger av lufttransporterte forurensninger (TVLF) og Naturens tålegrenser. Sammendrag av foredrag og postere fra møte i Stjørdal, 15.-17.februar 1993. Norsk institutt for luftforskning (NILU), OR 17/93.
- 43 Henriksen, A. & Hesthagen, T. 1993. Critical load exceedance and damage to fish populations. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-89210.
- 44 Lien, L., Henriksen, A. & Traaen, T.S. 1993. Critical loads of acidity to surface waters, Svalbard. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-90102.
- 45 Løbersli, E., Johannessen, T. & Olsen, K.V (red.) 1993. Naturens tålegrenser. Referat fra seminar i 1991 og 1992. Direktoratet for naturforvaltning, DN-notat 1993-6.
- 46 Bakken, S. 1993. Nitrogenforurensning og variasjon i nitrogen, protein og klorofyllinnhold hos barskogsmosen blanksigd (*Dicranum majus*). Direktoratet for naturforvaltning (DN). Utredning for DN 1994-1.
- 47 Krøkje, Å. 1993. Genotoksisk belastning i jord . Effektstudier, med mål å komme fram til akseptable grenser for genotoksisk belastning fra langtransportert luftforurensning. Direktoratet for naturforvaltning (DN). Utredning for DN 1994-2.
- 48 Fremstad, E. 1993. Heigråmose (*Racomitrium lanuginosum*) som indikator på nitrogenbelastning. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA) Oppdragsmelding 239.
- 49 Nygaard, P.H. & Ødegaard, T.H. 1993. Effekter av nitrogengjødsling på vegetasjon og jord i skog. Rapport Skogforsk 26/93.
- 50 Fløisand, I. og Johannessen, T. (red.) 1994. Langtransporterte luftforurensninger. Tilførsler, virkninger og tålegrenser. Sammendrag av foredrag og postere fra møte i Grimstad, 7.-9.3.94. Norsk institutt for luftforskning NILU OR: 17/94
- 51 Kleivane, L. Skåre, J.U. & Wiig, Ø. 1994. Klorerte organiske miljøgifter i isbjørn. Forekomst, nivå og mulige effekter. Norsk Polarinstitutt Meddelelse nr. 132.
- 52 Lydersen, E., Fjeld, E. & Andersen, T. 1994. Fiskestatus og vannkjemi i norske innsjøer. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA) O-93172
- 53 Schartau, A.K.L. (red.) 1994. Effekter av lavdose kadmium-belastning på littorale ferskvannspopulasjoner og -samfunn. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA) Forskningsrapport 055.
- 54 Mortensen, L. (1994). Variation in ozone sensitivity of *Betula pubescens* Erh. from different sites in South Norway. Direktoratet for naturforvaltning (DN). Utredning for DN, Nr. 1994-6.
- 55 Mortensen, L. (1994). Ozone sensitivity of *Phleum alpinum* L. from different locations in South Norway. Direktoratet for naturforvaltning (DN). Utredning for DN, Nr. 1994-7.
- 56 Frogner, T., Wright, R.F., Cosby, J.B. and Esser, J.M. (1994). Maps of critical loads and exceedance for sulfur and nitrogen to forest soils in Norway. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA) O-91147.
- 57 Flatberg, K.I. & Frisvoll, A.A. 1994. Moseskader i Agder 1989-92 (1994). Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Oppdragsmelding 298.
- 58 Hesthagen, T. & Henriksen, A. (1994). En analyse av sammenhengen mellom overskridelser avtålegrenser for overflatevann og skader på fiskebestander. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Oppdragsmelding 288.
- 59 Skåre, J.U., Wiig, Ø. & Bernhoft, A. (1994). Klorerte organiske miljøgifter; nivåer og effekter på isbjørn. Norsk Polarinstitutt Rapport nr. 86 - 1994.
- 60 Tørseth, K. & Pedersen, U. 1994. Deposition of sulphur and nitrogen components in Norway. 1988-1992. Norsk institutt for luftforskning (NILU): OR 16/94.
- 61 Nygaard, P.H. 1994. Virkning av ozon på blåbær (*Vaccinium myrtillus*), etasjehusmose (*Hylocomium splendens*), furumose (*Pleurozium schreberi*) og krussigd (*Dicranum polysetum*). Rapport Skogforsk 9/94.
- 62 Henriksen, A. & Lien, L. 1994. Tålegrenser for overflatevann: Metode og usikkerheter. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-94122.

- 63 Hilmo, O. & Larssen, H.C. 1994. Morfologi hos epifyttisk lav i områder med ulik luftkvalitet. ALLFORSK Rapport 2.
- 64 Wright, R.F. 1994. Bruk av dynamiske modeller for vurdering av vann- og jordforsuring som følge av redusert tilførsel av sur nedbør. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA), O-94112.
- 65 Hesthagen, T., A. Henriksen & Kvenild, L. 1994. Overskridelser av tålegrenser for overflatevann og skader på fiskebestander i norske innsjøer med spesiell vekt på Troms og Finnmark. Norsk institutt for naturforskning (NINA), Oppdragsmelding 298.
- 66 Sagmo Solli, I.M, Flatberg, K.I.F., Söderström, L., Bakken S. & Pedersen, B. 1996. Blanksigd og luftforurensningsstudier (in prep).
- 67 Stuanes, A. & Abrahamsen, G. 1996. Utredning om kunnskapsgrunnlaget for definisjon av tålegrenser i skog. Rapport Skogforsk (in prep).
- 68 Ogner, G. 1995. Tålegrenser for skog i Norge med hensyn til ozon. Aktuelt fra Skogforsk 3-95.
- 69 Thomsen, M., Nellemann, C. Frogner, T., Henriksen A., Tomter, S. & Mulder, J. 1995. Tilvekst og vitalitet for granskog sett i relasjon til tålegrenser og forurensning. Norsk institutt for skogforskning (NISK) (in prep).
- 70 Tomter, S. M. & Esser, J. 1995. Kartlegging av tålegrenser for nitrogen basert på en empirisk metode. Norsk institutt for jord- og skogkartlegging (NIJOS). Rapport nr 10/95.
- 71 Pedersen, H.Chr. (red.). 1995. Kadmium og bly i lirype: akkumulering og cellulære effekter. Stiftelsen for naturforskning og kulturminneforskning (NINA-NIKU) Oppdragsmelding 387
- 72 Bakken, S. & Flatberg, K.I.F. 1995. Effekter av økt nitrogendeposisjon på ombrotrof myrvegetasjon. En litteraturstudie. ALLFORSK Rapport 3.
- 73 Sogn, T.A., Stuanes, A.O. & Abrahamsen, G. 1995. Akkumulering av nitrogen en kritisk parameter for beregning av tålegrenser for nitrogen i skog. Rapport fra Skogforsk 21/95.
- 74 Nygaard, P.H. & Eldhuset, T. 1996. Forholdet mellom basekationer og aluminium i jordløsning som kriterium for tålegrenser i skogsjord. Norsk institutt for skogforskning (NISK). Rapport fra Skogforsk 1/96
- 75 Mortensen, L. 1993. Effects of ozone on growth of several subalpine plant species. Norw. J. Agric. Sci. 7: 129-138.
- 76 Mortensen, L. 1994. Further studies on the effects of ozone concentration on growth of subalpine plant species. Norw. J. Agric. Sciences 8:91-97.
- 77 Fløisand, I. & Løbersli, E. (red.) 1996. Lufttransporterte forurensninger tilførsler, virkninger og tålegrenser. Norsk institutt for luftforskning (NILU) OR 2/96.
- 78 Thomsen, M.G., Esser; J., Venn, K. & Aamlid, D. 1996. Sammenheng mellom trærs vitalitet og næringsstatus i nåler og humus på skogovervåkingsflater i Sørøst-Norge (in prep).
- 79 Tørseth, K., Mortensen, L. & Hjellbrekke, A.-G. 1996. Kartlegging av bakkenær ozon etter tålegrenser basert på akkumulert dose over 40 ppb. Norsk institutt for luftforskning (NILU) OR 12/96.
- 80 Esser, J.M. & Tomter, S.M. 1996. Reviderte kart for tålegrenser for nitrogen basert på empriske verdier for ulike vegetasjonstyper. Norsk institutt for jord- og skogkartlegging (NIJOS).
- 81 Henriksen, A., Hindar, A., Styve, H., Fjeld, E. og Lien, L. 1996. Forsuring av overflatevannberegningsmetodikk, trender og mottiltak. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA). RAPPORT LNR 3528-96.
- 82 Henriksen, A., Hesthagen, T. og Fjeld, Eirik. 1996. Overskridelser av tålegrenser for overflatevann og skader på fiskebestander. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA). RAPPORT LNR 3565-96
- 83 Wright, R.F., Raastad Aandahl, I., and Kaste, Ø. 1997. Atmospheric deposition of nitrogen, runoff of organic nitrogen, and critical loads for soils and waters. Norsk institutt for vannforskning (NIVA). RAPPORT LNR. 3592-97

Norwegian Institute for Water Research

P.O. Box 173 KjelsåsTelephone: + 47 22 18 51 00N-0411 OsloTelefax: + 47 22 18 52 00

By ordering the report, please use serial number 3592-97.

ISBN 82-577-3145-5